

[image: Images]






Thank you for downloading this Simon & Schuster eBook.





Join our mailing list and get updates on new releases, deals, bonus content and other great books from Simon & Schuster.







CLICK HERE TO SIGN UP








or visit us online to sign up at
eBookNews.SimonandSchuster.com








[image: Images]





For Judy,


and for my sons:


Dylan, Kevin, Brett, and Stephen





INTRODUCTION


Seventeen twenty-one might be the most important anonymous year in the evolution of both modern medicine and American liberty.


During the worst smallpox epidemic in Boston’s history, a lone physician conducted an experiment that saved hundreds of lives, launched a new medical discipline, and helped pave the way for the eradication of the world’s most devastating disease. The procedure he employed, known as variolation or inoculation, would, over time, be modified and extended to the fight against other fatal diseases, preventing the deaths of untold millions of persons. In 1721, though, it was considered primitive, barbaric, and tantamount to attempted murder. Town officials, the medical establishment, and many rank-and-file Bostonians opposed it. Some of those opponents seemed willing to do anything to stop it.


But the smallpox epidemic wasn’t the only fever gripping Boston that year. By 1721 the members of the elected Massachusetts assembly were in the midst of an unprecedented political rebellion against the Crown-appointed governor. Many officials in London were convinced that the Americans were in revolt and determined to wrest their independence from England.


The convergence of the inoculation controversy and the political uprising yielded a remarkable byproduct: America’s first independent newspaper. Never before had a successful paper dared publish without pledging its allegiance to the government. The New-England Courant not only refused to solicit an official blessing; it went out of its way to discomfit the political and religious establishments. Nominally (and opportunistically) founded to oppose inoculation, it quickly expanded its scope to include a spirited public discussion of political liberty and corruption. Caught up in the political excitement of the day, its publisher argued for political self-determination, a society that valued individual merit over noble birth, and freedom of the press. Even after he was jailed for casting aspersions on the competency and integrity of the most powerful men in Massachusetts—the royal governor included—he pressed ahead, challenging and scandalizing authority and insisting upon the radical notion that the press operated outside the control of the government.


IN APRIL 1721 smallpox came to Boston for the first time in nearly two decades. It arrived aboard the HMS Seahorse, a British warship. By the time the epidemic had burned itself out a year later, approximately half the town’s eleven thousand inhabitants had been infected. Among those who had escaped death were nearly three hundred men, women, and children who had undergone inoculation.


The procedure began with an incision in the skin of a healthy person. The incision was then implanted with viscous fluid from the vesicles or pustules of someone broken out in smallpox. The idea was to produce an extremely mild and easily tolerated case of the disease and confer immunity to future infection. Prior to 1721, inoculation was virtually unknown in America and had never been attempted. The proposal to try it in Boston came from an improbable source: the Puritan minister Cotton Mather. Mather, a theological conservative and master of the fire-and-brimstone jeremiad, was already one of the most controversial figures in Boston, chiefly as a consequence of his involvement in the Salem witch hysteria nearly three decades earlier. Generally regarded as a man prone to superstitions and “infatuations,” he had become, in the years since Salem, an adherent of Enlightenment science and an enthusiastic monitor of the latest and most exotic medical developments in Europe and beyond.


The town’s most esteemed physicians dismissed Mather’s proposal out of hand. But one doctor, Zabdiel Boylston, accepted his challenge. In 1721 Boylston was forty-two years old and successful both as a physician and an apothecary shop owner. He had achieved a measure of fame for his uncommonly good track record with surgeries but was relegated to the second tier of medical practitioners because he lacked the educational and social pedigrees of many of his colleagues.


Without Boylston’s daring, James Franklin would never have launched the New-England Courant. For nearly four years, the struggling Boston printer had been looking for an opportunity to start a newspaper modeled on the best London publications—a weekly that would be witty, literate, provocative, and ambitious, the antithesis of the two generally dull and perfunctory Boston newspapers already in circulation. In 1721 he leveraged the public’s hunger for information and opinions about inoculation to put his plan into action. If his Courant had done nothing more than reprint excerpts of Lockean essays on liberty by John Trenchard and Thomas Gordon, along with the topical Spectator commentaries of Joseph Addison and Richard Steele, it would have made a noteworthy contribution to the evolution of both American journalism and American independence. But it went further. Side by side with the essays of the great political and social thinkers of the European Enlightenment, James published distinctively American essays and letters penned by himself and his friends. They presumed to criticize and satirize the religious and political establishments of colonial Massachusetts with a boldness that scandalized their fathers’ generation. The Courant was the Onion, Daily Show, and Colbert Report of its day. Indeed, an argument can be made that American social and political satire began with James Franklin’s newspaper, and that everything that followed, from Mark Twain to Will Rogers to Matt Stone’s and Trey Parker’s South Park, is descended from it.


At the same time he was inventing American social and political commentary, James Franklin was also helping invent the man generally regarded as the first American. Two years after being pulled from school, twelve-year-old Benjamin Franklin had been indentured as his older brother’s apprentice. For the better part of the next three years, as he learned the trade that would make him wealthy, Ben had embarked upon his storied self-education. His inspiration, and many of his texts, came from his brother’s printing house, which contained a large and diverse library of books and periodicals and served as a meeting place for James Franklin’s clever and loquacious friends. Their conversations about books and pamphlets, and debates about politics, religion, and the social issues of the day, fired young Benjamin’s mind and imagination, and he began to see his destiny unfold before him. Then, in 1721, the fifteen-year-old was given a front-row seat to the inoculation controversy. What he learned from that debate, and from his involvement in the newspaper that grew out of it, changed his life and helped define him as an author, a publisher, a political philosopher, an experimenter, and a diplomat. In a sense, everything Benjamin Franklin ever really needed to know he learned in 1721. By early 1722 he was ready to take the public stage, disguised as a country widow named Silence Dogood.


It’s fitting that the political movement that would one day make Benjamin Franklin famous as an American patriot was coming of age at the same time he was. The man behind that first organized push toward American independence was a doctor-turned-businessman-turned-politician named Elisha Cooke Jr. The son of one of the colony’s wealthiest men and most beloved politicians, Cooke “the younger” had inherited his father’s fortune, talent for politics, and bitter and abiding resentment toward England for its 1684 cancellation of the original Massachusetts charter, which had given the colony a remarkable degree of political autonomy. Shortly after being elected to the Massachusetts House of Representatives for the first time in 1716, he had put all three of those inheritances to work opposing and obstructing the royal government. Before three years had elapsed, the pugnacious, hard-drinking Cooke had built America’s first political machine. He had also become the bane of English officials, one of whom accused him of poisoning the minds of his countrymen “with his republican notions, in order to assert the independency of New England.”


In 1721 a smallpox epidemic sparked a profound leap forward in medical science. It also served as a catalyst for the invention of American journalism, the coming of age of Benjamin Franklin, and the beginning of American independence itself. This book is about that epidemic and the political rebellion that accompanied it. It is the story of five remarkable men and how their courage, daring, vision, and desperation in a time of crisis defined their destinies and ours.





PROLOGUE


On December 11, 1719, a strange light appeared in the Boston night sky. Red waves radiated from the northeast horizon upward into the heavens like the glow of an ethereal fire. Then the light “spread itself thro’ the Heavens from East to West” and “streamed with white Flashes or Streams of Light down to the Horizon . . . very bright and very strong.”1 It weakened and disappeared after an hour, only to reappear several hours later in a new and “somewhat dreadful” form, flamelike at one moment and “blood red” the next.2 One observer, Harvard College’s scientific tutor Thomas Robie, admitted to being reminded of descriptions of Judgment Day but hastened to add that he attached no apocalyptic “Prognostications” to what he had witnessed. “I don’t mean that this Sight was not suprizing to me . . .” he later wrote, “but I only mean that no Man should fright himself by supposing that dreadful things will follow, such as Famine, Sword or Sickness.”3


Although Robie himself had no use for the traditional Puritan interpretation of an unusual celestial phenomenon (which in this case he correctly identified as the aurora borealis), he understood that many of his fellow Bostonians still did. Only thirty-nine years had passed since a bright comet had caused a Boston minister to preach a famous apocalyptic jeremiad titled “Heavens Alarm to the World. Or A Sermon Wherein Is Shewed, That fearful Sights and Signs in Heaven are the Presages of great Calamities at hand.”4 The belief that certain events in the skies and on the earth were signs of God’s displeasure with the wickedness of the people and a warning that Heaven’s vengeance was imminent continued to have currency. So did the idea that when bad things happened they were manifestations of that vengeance. Nine years earlier, when a huge fire had destroyed half of Boston, the Reverend Increase Mather—the same minister who had delivered the earlier comet jeremiad—had preached “Burnings Bewailed, In A Sermon . . . In which the Sins which Provoke the Lord to Kindle Fires, are Enquired into.”5 Now there were so many potential catastrophes looming over the town that one did not need to be particularly inclined toward what Robie called “Ignorance and Fancy” to suspect that that divine vengeance was imminent.6 On the frontiers of Massachusetts and New Hampshire the Indians were becoming increasingly provocative and warlike. In the Atlantic and the Caribbean, pirates were running amok, threatening the oceangoing commerce integral to the harbor town’s economic survival. And it had become clear that even if Massachusetts never lost another silver coin to a pirate, a commercial system rigged to favor the Crown at the expense of the colony might still cause it to run out of money. A pamphlet published soon after the appearance of the strange celestial lights claimed that Massachusetts had lost nearly a million pounds of silver and gold since the beginning of the new century. Soon, it warned, there wouldn’t be enough currency left to pay debts or taxes or even to buy food.7 Arguing that the silver shortage disproportionately harmed the poor and the middle class, a group of up-and-coming businessmen and members of the Massachusetts House of Representatives continually pushed the royal governor to approve large emissions of paper currency. The governor and his wealthy friends, many of whom traded directly with England and so had plenty of silver at their disposal, pushed back. The cure for the shortage of silver, they insisted, was not to give people more money but to force them to live with less. Equilibrium would be restored if the poor and middle class stopped living beyond their means and above their station—meaning that they stopped shipping off their silver to England for luxury goods they had no business buying.


The friction over the currency question was only one point of contention between the Crown-appointed governor and the popularly elected provincial assembly. Indeed, by late 1719 that relationship had become adversarial on so many fronts that many Bostonians believed England would smite Massachusetts before God did. From the very beginning—or at least since the 1650s, when it had begun ignoring and defying the Navigation Acts—the colony had been a thorn in the paw of the mother country, frequently uncooperative and sometimes unruly and defiant. But now three years of unprecedented bickering and fighting had “brought the governor and the people of Massachusetts into an attitude of obstinate antagonism to one another.”8 The dispute was approaching a flash point. Soon, many feared, England would cancel the “new” Massachusetts charter (granted in 1691), depriving the colony of any vestige of self-governance and instituting martial law in its place.


A little over a month after the appearance of the northern lights, another glow appeared on the horizon. This time it was anything but ethereal. The Boston Harbor lighthouse was on fire. The blaze had been ignited by hot oil dripping from one of the lamps at the summit of the fifty-plus-foot structure. While the people watched helplessly, the fire consumed the lighthouse interior. It might have been worse; no one had been killed or hurt and the fire had burned itself out before compromising the structural integrity of the exterior. Thanks to a determined effort by the town, Boston Light was repaired and back in operation by late the following month. Still, the temptation to interpret the conflagration as something more than an accident was powerful. The question was whether it was the punishment foretold by the lights in the sky—a manifestation, perhaps, of God’s anger over the rampant and sinful materialism and lust for luxury imports that the town’s burgeoning ocean trade had fostered—or a more emphatic and dramatic omen, either of the collapse of Boston’s teetering, trade-based economy or of some other and even more terrible conflagration still to come.


ON OCTOBER 28, 1720, a merchant brigantine commanded by a thirty-eight-year-old Bostonian named John Gore entered the outer reaches of Boston Harbor and made its way to the Nantasket Roads, the southern of two deepwater channels that served as nautical highways into and out of the harbor. Gore’s ship passed Little Brewster Island, whose lighthouse had been gutted by fire eight months earlier, and continued inward, gliding past Georges Island and Rainsford Island and then rounding the southern tip of the knife-shaped Long Island before bending to the north. This amounted to the “clubhouse turn” for returning vessels. Just ahead, the Nantasket Roads joined up with the southward bending President Roads to begin the final two-mile stretch to the harbor wharves.


Gore was just over four miles from completing his nearly two-month, 3,280-mile voyage from England when he veered off course, tacking sharply north in the direction of a forty-nine-acre island whose odd configuration consisted of two low, rounded hills connected by a thin spit of land. From the vantage point of passing ships, the island looked like a pair of pince-nez laid flat on the surface of the water.9 Indeed, passing “Spectacle Island” was all that most ships ever did. Clear-cut for firewood during the early years of the town, the ungainly island had sat deserted for decades. Then in 1717 the Massachusetts assembly had designated it as the site for a public quarantine hospital. The resulting facility, bare bones in every respect and lacking in medical personnel, was better described by its informal name, “the pest house.” It was a repository for persons suffering from contagious and deadly distempers, especially smallpox, measles, yellow fever, and, should it ever make the jump from Europe, the plague. In February 1718 the General Court (the name for the Massachusetts legislature) had passed a law requiring ships carrying infectious diseases to anchor near Spectacle Island and to transfer infected persons to the pest house until they died or recovered completely. The water bailiff had authority to order a diseased merchant ship to quarantine there. But inspections were cursory, more concerned with contraband than disease. More often than not it fell to the captain to self-quarantine. The unpopularity of that decision with ship owners, who paid captains to complete their voyages with all deliberate speed, and with healthy crew members and passengers, who having spent weeks or months at sea had no appetite for being stopped short within sight of their final destination, made it a challenge for even the most ethical captains. Differentiating between a relatively harmless disease and a deadly one complicated the issue. So did determining whether a contagion that had surfaced early in a long voyage had burned itself out by the time the ship had reached Boston Harbor weeks or months later.


That had been John Gore’s dilemma. A few days out of Bridgehampton he had discovered a case of smallpox aboard his ship. Soon a second case emerged, followed rapidly by a third and a forth. By the time Gore’s brig had passed the midpoint of its voyage, one man was dead and six more were in various stages of illness. Somehow, despite the inadequacy of the medical care and the hardships of passage on a cold, heaving ocean, all of those men had survived and were nearly or completely recovered by the time the ship entered Boston Harbor. Happily, no new cases had broken out. But Gore knew that there was still at least one person aboard who remained vulnerable to infection. If that man developed the disease a day or two after the ship’s arrival he might trigger another epidemic like the one that had killed hundreds of Bostonians and sickened thousands more in 1702 and 1703. That person was Gore himself.


He might have begun to suspect that something was wrong by the time his ship initiated its final approach to the wharf. Sometimes at its onset smallpox produced an odd malaise—the sense that one’s body was out of gear and working improperly. Not certain that he was sick, but unsure that he was well, Gore had erred on the side of caution, setting a trajectory for Spectacle Island. By late that day, a Friday, he had begun to experience the disease’s early symptoms: a quickened pulse and steady climb in body temperature. By the middle of the next day he had intense pain in his head, stomach, and groin. Then came vomiting and chills. When he woke up the following morning feverless and feeling well save for a slightly sore throat, he must have tried to reassure himself that he had shaken off whatever had brought him low. Within a few hours, though, a mild red rash began to form on his cheeks and forehead. Then his voice went hoarse and his throat broke out in sores that stung like paper cuts. As his throat swelled, swallowing went from excruciating to nearly impossible. Now the fever was back and climbing and the rash was growing redder and thicker and spreading to his arms, chest, and back. By Monday, October 31, his fever was raging and the rash had metamorphosed into hundreds of discrete, angry pustules. Seven days later he was dead. He was buried on Spectacle Island on the evening of November 8 without formal ceremony or the presence of his wife of seven years, who had not been informed that her husband lay mortally ill a few miles offshore.


For the rest of November and nearly all of December the government concealed the fact that a case of smallpox had come as close to Boston as Spectacle Island. Public panic over the possibility that an epidemic was imminent was one concern. A bigger fear, though, was that rumors of smallpox in Boston might be enough to cause trading partners to embargo the port, devastating the town’s anemic economy. Both of Boston’s newspapers conspired in the cover-up. When on December 12 the Boston News-Letter ran a story about a town threatened by an epidemic, it was Marseilles, not Boston; and the epidemic was bubonic plague, not smallpox.10


Government officials continued holding their breaths, waiting for a second case of smallpox to appear on the mainland, until December 26, nearly two months after Gore’s vessel had arrived at Spectacle Island. On that day, at the bottom of the left-hand column of the News-Letter’s back page, a notice datelined “Boston” began:


The Danger of the Small-Pox being over at present thro’ the Mercy of GOD; we may now venture to inform the Publick of the deplorable and general loss we have lately sustained, in the death of Capt. JOHN GORE of this Town.11


It went on to eulogize Gore for his legacy of honorable service, which had culminated in a final act of heroic selflessness. But many readers fixed on the opening sentence, which confirmed that after more than eighteen years without an outbreak of smallpox Boston had come perilously close to being visited by its most dread disease.


Probably by this point few Bostonians were shocked by the news. Six weeks was a very long time to keep a secret in a peninsular town whose approximately eleven thousand inhabitants were concentrated in an area of less than four square miles. What the newspapers didn’t disseminate, tavern gossip generally did, albeit with all the exaggerations and inaccuracies that accompanied that form of communication. Nor was it difficult to corroborate the rumor that a ship was anchored at Spectacle Island. All it took was climbing to the summit of Beacon Hill, the tallest of Boston’s three peaks, from which it was possible to “overlook all the islands which lie within the bay, and descry such ships as are on the sea-coast.”12


But it was one thing to suspect smallpox was close by and another to have the government confirm it. How Bostonians reacted to that admission depended on whether they had experienced the previous smallpox epidemic. For those too young to remember it, there was a thrill not unlike the one they felt while viewing the African lion—the first ever in America—on display at the Boston home of Mrs. Martha Adams. Smallpox, too, was a beast—snarling, fierce, deadly, and exotic. Seeing it up close and safely caged was titillating. But for those who had survived the last epidemic, losing loved ones or nearly their own lives, the announcement produced only an uneasy relief. Historically, a new smallpox epidemic arrived approximately every twelve years. Boston was now six years overdue for its next visitation. When it finally came, that epidemic might prove as catastrophic and all-encompassing as the ones that had nearly exterminated the Abenaki, the Massachusett, the Wampanoag, and the Pawtucket during the seventeenth century. What they knew for certain was that no cage could hold smallpox indefinitely. Sooner or later the beast would escape and devour the town.





PART ONE


TROUBLE NEAR


The common people of this Province are so perverse, that when I remove any person from the Council, for not behaving himself with duty towards H.M. or His orders, or for treating me H.M. Govr. ill, that he becomes their favourite, and is chose a Representative.


—Samuel Shute, royal governor of Massachusetts, letter to the Council of Trade and Plantations, London, June 1, 1720


A Devil was once an Angel, but Sin has brought him to be a Fallen Angel; an Angel full of Enmity to God and man.


—Cotton Mather, “A Discourse on the Power and Malice of the Devils,” in Memorable Providences Relating to Witchcrafts and Possessions (1689)





1


IDOL OF THE MOB


For a few hours on a sunny, crisp morning in October 1716, royal governor Samuel Shute’s administration looked quite promising, at least from the outside. Salutes fired from the cannon of the town’s batteries and the guns of two British warships in the harbor alerted Boston of Shute’s imminent arrival and brought thousands of people to the waterfront for a glimpse of the first new governor in fourteen years. By the time the Lusitania docked at the end of Long Wharf a line of spectators extended the full third-of-a-mile length of the wharf and another quarter mile up King Street to the Boston Town House, where the formal welcome and swearing in would be conducted.


The man who appeared on deck, waving to his new constituents and acknowledging their cheers, had small, wide-set eyes, a puggish nose, full cheeks, and a capacious double chin that billowed like a sail over the top of his neck cloth. He was plumper and older than the war hero people had heard about, the man who had fought valiantly under Marlborough and been wounded on the battlefield in Flanders. Aside from his military credentials, all average Bostonians knew about the fifty-four-year-old retired colonel was that he had been raised a Puritan. Shute had converted to the Church of England, presumably in the interest of career advancement. But the knowledge that he shared the religious heritage of a majority of Bostonians was a comfort to those who remembered the hostility of an earlier, Puritan-hating Anglican governor who had commandeered their meetinghouses for Church of England services and had made an ostentatious show of his celebration of Christmas, a holiday Puritans not only refused to recognize but considered sacrilegious. More than anything, though, what excited the people of Boston about Samuel Shute was that he was not Joseph Dudley, his predecessor. With a new chief executive came new hope for solutions to the colony’s challenges, better cooperation between the executive and legislative branches of the colonial government, and more equitable relations with the mother country.


But many political insiders were skeptical that Samuel Shute constituted a new start, a change from the status quo. Although they, too, knew little about the man, they had discovered that his appointment had been finagled by friends of Joseph Dudley, who had first bribed the man originally appointed to replace Dudley into relinquishing the position. The mere possibility that Shute was in the pocket of Dudley and his son Paul, the colony’s attorney general, was enough to earn him enemies among his new constituents. Many persons had never forgiven Dudley for his betrayal of Massachusetts nearly three decades earlier, when he had served as henchman to the most despotic governor in the colony’s history, Edmund Andros. In 1689, the people had risen up and deposed Andros, jailing and eventually deporting him to England along with Dudley and another man, Edward Randolph. Thirteen years later the Crown had sent Dudley back to Massachusetts as its governor. Fears that he would revenge himself on his jailers with draconian assaults on individuals and group liberties had proven largely unfounded. But his administration had been both arbitrary enough and corrupt enough to spur two unsuccessful attempts to have him recalled. Having survived those, he might have remained governor for the rest of his life had Queen Anne not died prematurely at age forty-nine and her successor, George Louis, not decided to do as most new monarchs did and replace his predecessor’s appointments with men who would be in his debt. On his way out of office, Dudley had given his political opponents two final reasons to despise him, tacitly approving the scheme to rig the selection of his replacement, and double-crossing supporters of a plan to alleviate the worsening silver currency shortage by creating a private bank that would emit paper currency. After making those men believe that he would endorse the venture, he had worked secretly behind the scenes to assure its defeat.


The bank’s supporters were still smarting from that act of duplicity as the carriage carrying the man Dudley’s friends had picked to replace him made its way up King Street. In the months prior to Shute’s departure for America, Dudley’s men had thoroughly indoctrinated him in their anti-private-bank philosophy, preparing him to fend off any new attempts to launch the bank or force the government to emit paper currency. But the currency controversy was about to change in ways the new governor was unprepared to handle, evolving from a dry and somewhat tedious argument over monetary policy into a far-reaching debate over class entitlement, freedom of dissent, Americans’ liberties as Englishmen, and the colony’s right to self-determination, and becoming, as one historian put it, “the secret of political alignment” for a generation of emerging patriots and loyalists.1


SHUTE MADE TWO stops along the parade route up King Street. The first was to greet a group of the town’s ministers. The second was to meet with Joseph Dudley. That meeting took place in view of a “great Concourse of People” and a sizable group of dignitaries who had gathered at the foot of the Town House for Shute’s public welcoming ceremony.2 Those dignitaries included members of the Massachusetts House of Representatives (who were known as deputies); their colleagues in the upper house, the Governor’s Council (who were known as councilors or assistants); the president of Harvard College; and numerous judges and other prominent gentlemen of the province. No one among that group was more put off by the conspicuous show of affection between the old governor and the new than the Boston representative Elisha Cooke, who had been elected to the Massachusetts House for the first time the previous year at the relatively young age of thirty-eight. Cooke came from Massachusetts political royalty: He was the grandson of John Leverett, an early governor of Massachusetts, and the son of Elisha Cooke Sr., the colony’s most influential anti-Crown politician. Cooke Sr. had been the most outspoken critic of England’s 1684 revocation of the founding Massachusetts charter, the act that had taken the power to choose its own governor away from the colony and given it to England, and one of the leaders of the 1689 uprising against Andros, the tyrant England had installed as royal governor shortly after the charter’s cancellation. He had been nearly as critical of the “New Charter” of 1691, which had restored some liberties but left with England both the power to appoint the governor and to disallow objectionable laws. Thereafter, he and members of his “Old Charter Party” had categorically opposed “royal authority over the colony and the governors’ attempts to rule by prerogative.”3 Outraged by the traitorous Joseph Dudley’s appointment as royal governor, Cooke Sr. had become his “pointed enemy.”4 The historian John Eliot wrote that Cooke Sr. “never missed the opportunity of speaking against his [Dudley’s] measures, or declaring his disapprobation of the man.”5 Right up until his death in 1715 he had also criticized Dudley’s “Prerogative Party” supporters, men who, he charged, kowtowed to the royal governor and the Crown in order to pad their fortunes or, in the case of some of the once-prominent families from the colony’s founding era, to prop up their diminishing status.


Elisha Cooke Sr. and his only son were so closely aligned politically that one detractor would describe Cooke Jr.’s contempt for English authority as a disease he had “caught” from his father.6 Indeed, he had followed his father’s example in nearly every respect. Both father and son had attended Harvard College, trained as physicians, and left the regular practice of medicine for success as businessmen. The younger Cooke’s ventures included a salt plant on Boston neck, a stake in Long Wharf (to that point the largest infrastructure project in America), and investments in Boston warehouses and taverns and in thousands of acres of prime Maine timberland. His real passion and talent, though, were for politics. Outmaneuvered by Joseph Dudley in his first foray into political dealings at the provincial level—the attempt to launch a private bank—he had nevertheless proven himself a formidable opponent. Dudley’s biographer wrote that the cagey old governor, who had survived two recalls, understood that Cooke Jr. and his bank partners represented “a faction more dangerous than any other combination he had faced.”7


With wealth, education, social standing, and a talent for public speaking—his oratory was described as “animating, energetic, concise, persuasive, and pure”—Cooke had the credentials and skills necessary to succeed as a conventional eighteenth-century politician.8 It surprised no one that within months of his election to the House he had already achieved a leadership position. But other, more unconventional talents and tactics would help him rise above conventional politicians and become the most significant and powerful Boston politician in the decades preceding the American Revolution—more hated by England than anyone but Samuel Adams (in whose political education Cooke would pay a formative role).


Shortly after their defeat of the private bank, Dudley’s Prerogative Party men had attempted to change the form of Boston’s government from the town meeting to an English-style incorporated borough system. Boston was and always had been the locus of political resistance and general incorrigibility. The town meeting, Dudley knew, fed that rebelliousness, since it gave all the people, even those without the vote, the power to speak their minds, required votes on all major issues, and mandated the yearly election of selectmen who managed town affairs. By instituting an incorporated system whereby representation came from aldermen appointed for life and vested with the power to choose a mayor, controlling the town became as simple as either arranging for the “right” men to be chosen alders or using favors and bribes to influence them. Recognizing what Dudley and his friends were up to, Cooke had published two anonymous pamphlets that declared incorporation “an oligarchic plot” by political and economic elites bent on rigging the government, the currency system, and the entire economy for their benefit.9 The pamphlets reminded rank-and-file Bostonians that each freeholder had the “undoubted right” to “speak his Opinion, and give his Advice, and Vote, too, concerning any Affair to be transacted by the Town,” and that to turn over that power to an alderman was to squander this “great Privilege their Ancestors have conveyed to them.”10 In asserting that the people were “Free-born and in bondage to no Man,” in claiming inviolable political liberties, and in rejecting the assumption that the wealthy, the powerful, the highborn, and, by extension, the royal, were superior to the average man, Cooke’s pamphlets articulated, perhaps for the first time, a distinctly and defiantly American political identity.11


The success of those pamphlets—the incorporation plan was dropped before the next opportunity to vote on it—gave credence to Cooke’s instinct for a new kind of politics. No one, not even Cooke’s father, had thought to cultivate popular support or opposition to leverage a political agenda. Most conventional politicians wouldn’t have known how to do it if they had wanted to. Cooke, though, had begun to master the art of speaking the language of the people. His classrooms were the taverns of Boston, where, by lending an ear and buying a round, he earned a reputation as not only “a drinking man without equal” but also a political leader “generous to needy people of all classes.”12 After a few rums the social and economic differences between the hardscrabble tradesmen and the wealthy Harvard man melted away, and the former saw the latter as one of their own. It helped that he looked the part. With a broad, fleshy face, full lips, jutting knob of a chin, and slight broadening at the bridge of his nose, he looked more like a workingman than an aristocrat, and more like a brawler than a fast-talking dandy. As he set about evolving his father’s Old Charter Party into what would come to be known as the Popular Party, he took every opportunity to exploit his workingman image. Eventually he would sit for his only known portrait wearing a brown periwig, the color of a tradesman. A future royal governor would sneer at his willingness to court the favor of the middling and the poor, mocking him as “the idol of the Mob.”13 But it was the support of the “mob” that would make Cooke the Crown’s most formidable threat.


HAVING REACHED THE Town House, Samuel Shute was welcomed with a brief proclamation thanking God for his safe arrival. That sentiment was punctuated by musketfire from two companies of militia. When the smoke cleared, the governor was escorted into the Town House and up the stairs to the Council chamber, where his commission was read along with that of the new lieutenant governor—Joseph Dudley’s son-in-law, William Dummer. Then both men laid their hands on the Bible and, in the words of one observer, “kiss’d it very industriously,” completing the ceremony.14 At one o’clock Shute was feted at a large, formal dinner whose guest list included his Council and “many” members of the Massachusetts House.15 After toasts had been drunk and the meal consumed, the speaker of the House turned to Shute, explained that the governor’s official residence, the Province House, was not yet ready for him, and offered him lodging in the home of William Tailer, the man who had served as interim governor between the end of Dudley’s commission and Shute’s arrival. The offer was important symbolically, since Dudley and the pro-bank Tailer had argued acrimoniously over who should occupy the governorship until Shute arrived, with each man accusing the other of trying to steal control of the colony. Tailer’s welcoming gesture reassured the people that a smooth, orderly transition of power was under way. Similarly, acceptance of the offer would send the message that although Shute was friendly with Dudley, he planned to work with both of the colony’s political factions. But much to the surprise of nearly everyone in attendance, Shute declined the offer, announcing that he had already accepted an invitation to stay with Paul Dudley, whose devotion to England’s prerogative rule of the colony eclipsed his father’s and who years earlier had infamously asserted that Massachusetts would “never be worth living in for Lawyers and Gentlemen, till the Charter is taken away.”16 In his diary that evening the conservative judge and councilor Samuel Sewall would write: “The Governour’s going to Mr. Dudley’s makes many fear that he is deliver’d up to a Party. Deus avertat Omen!” [God forbid!].17 Maybe the only man neither in on the plan nor shocked by it was Elisha Cooke, who expected no better from any man who had won endorsement by both the Crown and the Dudleys. While others had hoped that Shute’s arrival would bring a fresh start, Cooke had simply wanted an excuse to attack. And now, on his first day as governor, Shute had given him one.


ALTHOUGH ENGLAND HAD the power to appoint any governor it saw fit, a loophole in the 1691 charter had left the amount and disposition of his compensation entirely to the discretion of the Massachusetts House. The deputies had quickly capitalized on that royal oversight by declining to pay the governor a salary, as England had assumed they would, instead awarding him a biyearly “present” in whatever amount they saw fit.18 The more amenable the governor, the more money he stood to receive. This, of course, undermined England’s absolute authority over the man they placed in the position. The Crown had sent several governors to Boston with strict orders to undo the loophole. All had failed. In April 1717, Samuel Shute made his bid, calling for a fixed salary for himself and his successors. In years past it had been Elisha Cooke Sr., the man who had come up with the discretionary, nonsalary system for paying royal governors, who marshaled the House to hold firm against English pressure. Now it was his son who rounded up the votes to defeat the measure. Future efforts would prove equally futile. “In most of the royal governments,” wrote historian Timothy Pitkin, “after much difficulty, these recommendations [for fixed salaries] were finally complied with. The assembly of Massachusetts, however, could never be induced to yield . . . Thus the people of Massachusetts still continued, as in the case of the navigation acts, to claim the right of Englishmen, to grant their money when and how they pleased.”19 Shute’s peevish response to that defeat—after rejecting a House request for a new emission of paper currency (he had approved an earlier one, probably expecting that it would buy him victory in the salary vote), he shut down the General Court with important business still pending—tweaked Cooke’s indignation. Soon thereafter he made his first sidelong attack on Shute’s administration, accusing royal surveyor Jonathan Bridger of shaking down settlers in Maine (at that point a territory of Massachusetts and therefore Shute’s responsibility) for the privilege of harvesting white pines on their own land. Cooke knew that since the Lords of Trade and Plantations viewed the pines, which were ideal for ship masts, as a strategic resource, they would be irate over anything that threatened their uninterrupted supply to the Royal Navy—and that whether they blamed him or Bridger (they blamed him), they would also condemn Shute for his failure to manage the situation.


The governor and his nemesis formally became enemies on May 29, 1718, when Shute got his revenge on Cooke by exercising his right to “negative” (veto) the Popular Party leader’s elevation from the House to the Council. The negative effectively expelled Cooke from the General Court. Eight months later, Shute struck again, arranging for Cooke to be stripped of his position as clerk of the superior court. This time Shute was angry because Cooke had called him a “blockhead” while in a heated argument with one of his supporters.20


London welcomed the news of Shute’s punitive assertiveness. Rumors that he might be recalled for his failures to obtain a fixed salary and stop Cooke from harassing Jonathan Bridger faded. But in Massachusetts, where a House investigation substantiated Cooke’s claims against the royal surveyor, the governor’s vindictiveness had the opposite effect, ending his honeymoon with the people and solidifying support for Cooke, who in March 1719 was handily elected a Boston selectman for the first time. Weeks later he was elected one of the town’s four deputies to the Massachusetts House, putting him back in the General Court and in a position from which the governor had no authority to remove him. The town’s three other seats also went to men from his party. Indeed, throughout Massachusetts, the 1719 elections produced a change “unfavorable to the governor’s interest,” with the election of a majority of men philosophically aligned with Cooke and his Boston friends.21


But the size and scope of the victory were only part of the story. In Boston, Cooke had done what many had believed impossible, convincing a people so worried about vesting too much power in any one person that they almost never allowed the same man to serve as a selectman and House deputy simultaneously, to elect an identical slate of ideologically aligned candidates at both levels of government. Oliver Noyes, William Clark, and Isaiah Tay, Boston’s new House members, were all Boston selectmen. They had been elected, one correspondent wrote, “by a considerable majority, notwithstanding all endeavours used to the contrary.”22 It was a shift too seismic to have happened on its own, proof that a force was at work beneath the surface of Boston politics. Evicted from the Council, Cooke had devoted himself to expanding his base by turning Boston’s drinking establishments into “political nodes” where propaganda could be disseminated and political support nurtured with free drinks. The success of that effort was apparent in a single statistic: In Boston in 1719, the number of voters was double the average in the years from 1698 to 1717.23 Both in the town and throughout the colony, Cooke had orchestrated a dominant victory by getting out the vote, something no one before him had thought or bothered to do.


But even a man who loved rum as much as Cooke had not been able to visit every bar, make every speech, and buy every drink. To carry out his strategy, he had formed a “small clique” or “political club” that operated in semi-secrecy and that in years to come would be known as the Boston Caucus Club.24 Throughout the decades leading up to the American Revolution, “America’s first urban political ‘machine’ ” would grow and spin off new caucuses and related secret societies like the Sons of Liberty, providing the infrastructure and the leadership for the eventual all-out rebellion against Great Britain.25 No one understood its importance more than the men who headed up that effort. “Our Revolution was effected by caucuses,” wrote John Adams, a former caucus member, in 1808.26


COOKE’S POWER CAME at the price of growing threats from England. By the time the Boston lighthouse caught fire in January 1720, England had censured the Massachusetts House twice, the first time for “countenancing and encouraging” Cooke’s attacks on Bridger and again for imposing duties on imports from England.27 London reminded the House that it forbade any law that hindered English trade and warned the people of Massachusetts that they would “do well to consider, how far the breaking this condition, and the laying any discouragements on the shipping and manufactures of this Kingdome may endanger their Charter.”28 The growing anti-Massachusetts sentiment at Trade and Plantations was fed by a steady stream of accusatory letters from Surveyor Bridger. The king’s rights had never been “called into question,” wrote Bridger in one such letter, until the “Incendiary” Cooke had “endeavoured, to poyson the minds of his countreymen, with his republican notions, in order to assert the independency of New England, and claim greater privileges than ever were designed for it etc.”29 When, in May 1720, Cooke finally stood for and was elected speaker of the House, formalizing his control over that body, Bridger penned another letter. “These people,” he wrote, “will only be governed by a severe Act of Parliament w[i]th, a good penalty fixed.”30


All too aware of how Cooke-as-speaker would play in London, Samuel Shute refused to accept the vote. A standoff ensued. No one had questioned Shute’s power to negative Cooke’s earlier selection as councilor—the governor’s authority relative to the upper house was an accepted fact. But the House’s right to the speaker of its choice was nearly as sacrosanct, by tradition if not explicitly by law. Only once before had a governor refused to accept a speaker. And even in that case the governor, Joseph Dudley, had relented when two years later the same man was elected again. Now, after three days of deadlock and with no prospect of either side giving in, Shute again shut down the Court, warning in his closing remarks that Massachusetts would “suffer” if its representatives continued to insist on having Cooke as their speaker.31


Shute’s threats notwithstanding, the new elections that preceded the restart of the General Court sent mostly the same men to the House. Bostonians were particularly defiant. Voting just four days after the Boston newspapers dutifully printed Shute’s saber-rattling closing speech, they reelected the Popular Party slate of Cooke, Noyes, and William Clark. The only change in the town’s contingent was the addition of Dr. John Clark, a Popular Party member negatived from the Council by Shute at the same time he had disallowed Cooke’s speakership.


With a rematch over his selection as speaker in the offing, Cooke went on the offensive, publishing a pamphlet reminiscent of the ones that had helped defeat the attempt to incorporate the Boston government. He characterized Shute’s attempt to bar him from the speaker’s chair as an effort by England to deprive the people of Massachusetts of their rights. Employing logic and language that might have come from the pen of a Samuel Adams or James Otis a half century later, he wrote:


The happiness or infelicity of a People, intirely depending upon the enjoyment or deprivation of Libertie; Its therefore highly prudent for them to inform themselves of their just Rights, that from a due sence of their inestimable Value, they may be encouraged to assert them against the Attempts of any in time to come.32


Cooke’s rhetoric stirred his fellow House deputies. But the knowledge that Shute would again negative Cooke and shut down the session, paralyzing the government and preventing vital and already overdue measures from being enacted, eroded their resolve to insist on his speakership. On July 13, after two votes in which Cooke received a plurality of votes but not enough to again take the speaker’s chair, they elected a centrist deputy named Timothy Lindall. It was a significant win for the governor, but it came at the price of the House’s resentful belligerence. For the rest of the session the deputies voted down every proposal Shute put forward, refusing to fund the celebration of the king’s birthday, approving only a token allocation in support of Shute’s efforts to forge a diplomatic solution to the growing and “universally dreaded” Indian threat along the eastern frontier, and reducing the amount of their “grant” to the governor by £100, a cut made even larger by the stipulation that payment be made in drastically depreciated Massachusetts paper currency rather than silver.33 Shute’s reaction was a conspicuous and ominous silence. Ten tumultuous and mostly unproductive days after the session began, the governor ordered the Court closed, this time without even bothering to deliver his traditional closing remarks.


Even those who believed the colony was better off without Cooke as speaker were growing tired of Shute’s reflexive shutdowns, which suggested that he cared more about having his way than about the business of the province and the well-being of its people. Indeed, by 1721 it had come to seem that the governor viewed every setback as a personal affront requiring a retaliatory action. The opening of the General Court session that March offered the most combative version of Samuel Shute the colony had yet seen. Still angry over the slight he had received at the end of the final session of the previous year, when the deputies had awarded him the second half of his compensation for the year, again reducing it by £100 and leaving him £200 plus depreciation short of the £1,200 he had received each of the previous three years, he demanded that his salary be increased. He also demanded that the House pass a law giving him pre-publication censorship powers—which were necessary, he asserted, because of an emerging threat to his authority: a series of critical pamphlets that he termed “Factious and Scandalous” and “tending to disquiet the minds of His Majesties good Subjects.”34


There was no chance the deputies would supplement Shute’s pay. The odds that they would bow to his demand for licensing authority over the colony’s printed materials were not much better. Just over a year earlier he had tried to prevent the House from printing a harsh rebuttal to a speech in which he had blamed it for the colony’s bad reputation in London. His claim that the Crown had vested him with absolute power over the press had failed to stop the deputies from going ahead with their counterattack. Although now he had framed his request for pre-publication censorship authority as a response to threats from outside the government, the deputies knew that he would turn it against them the first time they took to print to defend their actions or criticize his.


The sudden and untimely death of Oliver Noyes, Cooke’s lieutenant and close friend, delayed the House response. The Court adjourned for several days until Noyes, who had suffered a stroke and died the following day, was buried. Perhaps because they were offended that the governor and lieutenant governor had been conspicuously absent from his funeral, the deputies came back to work more intransigent than ever. They turned down not only Shute’s demands for money and censorship authority but “directly or virtually, every proposal” he put forth during the next ten days.35 By March 31, the governor had had enough. He shut down the session with “a very sharp Speech,” admonishing the House members to “a Loyal and Peaceable Behavior” during the recess.36 The implied accusation that the deputies were about to foment some kind of mob violence or armed rebellion was ludicrous. But reading it into the official record meant it was sure to get to London, where the Lords of Trade would take it at face value and decide the Americans were even more nefarious and dangerous than they had formerly believed.


It was ironic, then, that when an act of political violence did take place the very next day it came from the governor’s nephew. John Yeamans was drinking at Richard Hall’s tavern across the street from the Town House when he got into a heated argument with another patron—his uncle’s arch-enemy Elisha Cooke. At some point Yeamans lost control and struck Cooke. A Cooke supporter named Christopher Taylor lit out after Yeamans, vowing to “have some of his blood”; when he couldn’t find him, he settled for insulting the governor, who was passing in a carriage.37 The authorities fined Yeamans for striking Cooke and Taylor for threatening Yeamans and the governor. With that, the matter was put to rest.


Within days of shutting down the assembly, Samuel Shute was off to his other government in New Hampshire. He left a colony paralyzed by acrimony and gridlock and sinking beneath the weight of its problems and threats. The Abenaki Indians had become actively hostile toward the colony’s frontier settlers, making war increasingly likely. On top of a crippling currency shortage and runaway inflation, the recent collapse of the English financial markets resulting from the bursting of the “South Sea Bubble” meant an inevitable evaporation of investments in the colony.38 And now the charter seemed doomed. It was hard to imagine how things could get worse.
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JAMES AND BENJAMIN


In September 1719, John Campbell was fired as Boston’s postmaster, a job he had held for seventeen years. For fifteen of those years he had also put out the Boston News-Letter, America’s first continuously published newspaper. Campbell had invented the News-Letter to monetize one of his more tedious duties: producing a handwritten summary of news gleaned from incoming English newspapers and official documents and from his discussions with ship captains and the couriers who delivered domestic mail. Before delivering the letter to the royal governor he made copies by hand, which he then sold to other government officials and prominent businessmen. When the demand exceeded his ability to hand-copy the letter, he enlisted the printer Bartholomew Green to produce a typeset version. The resulting sheet resembled British newspapers, but its writing was perfunctory and its subject matter was safe and formulaic. “Our paltry News Letter,” one subscriber called it.1 And so it had remained for more than a dozen years. Dull and unpopular—its circulation had increased by just fifty copies in all the years since its inception—it was also, by the summer of 1718, thirteen months late in reporting news from Europe. Its founder’s firing seems to have stemmed from a comparable tardiness in his other postmaster duties.


Campbell’s replacement, William Brooker, assumed that he would get the News-Letter along with the postmaster’s office, since Campbell had gone out of his way to justify publishing the newspaper for a profit by arguing that it was a logical and necessary obligation of the postmaster, a claim he would trot out every few years in attempts to get the government to underwrite a venture that proved more burdensome and less profitable than he had hoped. But when Brooker took office, Campbell refused to relinquish the News-Letter. He ignored his successor’s claim to ownership and went right on publishing it.


Realizing after two months that Campbell was not going to budge and that the government didn’t care enough about the News-Letter to adjudicate its ownership, Brooker decided to start his own paper. The challenge was to successfully launch a second newspaper in a town that had shown little enthusiasm for the one it already had. Brooker, though, had two advantages over Campbell. One was that, as postmaster, he could distribute his newspaper throughout the colony at government expense. The other was that his newspaper wouldn’t have the baggage that went with being the “paltry” News-Letter. Since the profit margin was certain to be small, especially at the start, getting his product printed as cheaply as possible was imperative. Of the town’s four full-time printers, three were out of the question. Bartholomew Green already printed the News-Letter and, as the most established and successful Boston printer, would have been too expensive anyway. Thomas Fleet was also busy enough that he had no need to lower his rate. Although Green’s nephew Samuel Kneeland had only been in business a short time, he was already producing nearly as many imprints as Fleet and, with his uncle feeding him work, had no pressing need to strike a deal with the new postmaster. That left James Franklin.


In 1717, twenty-year-old James Franklin had returned to Boston from his printer’s apprenticeship in England anxious to set up as the town’s third full-time printer. James was the middle of Josiah Franklin’s six sons with his second wife, Abiah Folger Franklin. His plan was to work as a journeyman for Bartholomew Green until he had saved enough money to buy a press and type. But once inside Green’s printing house he discovered that Samuel Kneeland was nearing the end of his apprenticeship. Most apprentices got a suit of clothes at the conclusion of their indenture; as Green’s nephew and a member of the most prominent family in New England printing, Kneeland was almost certain to get his own printing house. Many persons doubted that Boston had enough printing business to support even one more printer. No one believed it could sustain two more. If Kneeland set up first, James knew, he would have a prohibitive advantage, especially given the connections in business and government that came with being a Green. But if James managed to set up first, Green would probably decide to establish his nephew somewhere else, as had happened several years earlier when Green had sent his younger brother Timothy to Connecticut rather than have him vie with Thomas Fleet, who had recently arrived from England and opened up a printing house on Pudding Lane.


Josiah Franklin was skeptical of his son’s plan. He wanted James either to bide his time until Green retired or relocate to Newport, Rhode Island, where John Franklin, James’s half brother, had established himself in their father’s trade, tallow chandler, and where a printer had yet to settle. But James had big ambitions and was convinced that Boston was the only place in America with an intellectual and cultural milieu capable of supporting the kind of printing he wanted to do. It was a literate town where people loved philosophy, politics, argument, and gossip, the fodder for the books, pamphlets, and broadsides that came off a printer’s press. So in late 1717 and the first weeks of 1718 he pressed his father hard for a loan to buy his equipment and beat Kneeland into the market.


While Josiah had James in one ear, he had his youngest son in the other. Nearly two years had passed since Benjamin Franklin had taken John’s place as his father’s apprentice. Now he was eleven. With a hearty constitution and a chest and shoulders already powerful from swimming, he was well suited for the hard, physical work of making candles and soap. But he had no heart for the hot, smelly drudgery of it. Benjamin wanted Josiah to release him from his indenture and allow him to apprentice as a sailor. Josiah, who had already lost one sailor son in a shipwreck, refused to hear of it. He knew, though, that ships routinely signed on boys without checking to see if they were indentured elsewhere. His best hope for keeping his son from stealing away was finding him a more amenable trade on dry land. A daylong father-and-son tour of Boston’s trades had proven unfruitful, and a prospective apprenticeship with Josiah’s nephew, a cutler, had fallen through. As Benjamin approached his twelfth birthday he was still in his father’s tallow shop and still miserable.


In the first weeks of 1718 Josiah relented to the demands of his sons, but with a catch for each of them. He would secure a £100 loan for James to start his business. But since printing was a two-man operation, James would need to bring on Benjamin as his apprentice. James resisted, unhappy at being saddled with his young, willful sibling. Unable to talk his father out of the condition but desperate for the loan, he extracted large, peevish concessions, including two extra years of unpaid labor from his little brother and an up-front placement fee, a demand that had so deeply insulted Josiah when it had come from his nephew, the cutler who had agreed to take Ben as his apprentice, that Josiah had walked away from the deal.


Benjamin was as unhappy as his brother. Even a twelve-year-old could see how unfairly the proposed indenture favored the master. And he had reservations about being tethered to a brother who was virtually a stranger, having been out of the country for most of his young life, and who, since his return, had shown himself to be moody, mercurial, and fond of drink. Josiah had been right to think that a boy who loved reading and books as much as his youngest son would spark to working with type and ink. But to Benjamin, nine years of indenture to someone who had already taken unfair advantage of him appeared an eternity. Unfortunately, his only option was to remain in his father’s tallow shop. And that was unacceptable.


In June or July 1718, James Franklin returned from England with a sixty-year-old screw-and-lever “common press” constructed of unseasoned English elm, and a single font of type. By late July the Franklin printing house had opened on the southeast corner of Queen Street and Dorset Alley, about two hundred paces from the Boston Town House and directly across from the “gloomy pile of the town prison.”2 In August, James produced his first major imprint, A Catalog of Curious and Valuable Books. Its colophon read: “Boston: Printed by J. Franklin, at his printing-house in Queen Street, over against Mr. Sheaf’s school; where all sorts of printing work and engraving on wood, is done at reasonable prizes [sic]. 1718”3 Typographical error aside, the sixteen-page imprint, which contained original woodcuts of putti and flowers, spoke well for James’s abilities as a page designer, carver of woodcuts for illustrations, and printer. A second imprint, a sermon by Thomas Prince and Ebenezer Pemberton on the occasion of Prince’s ordination as assistant minister of the Old South Church, followed about a month later. Although the assignment came through Samuel Gerrish, Boston’s leading bookseller, it’s likely that Josiah Franklin, an active member of the Old South, had lobbied the ministers on his son’s behalf. At least one additional imprint would follow before the end of the year.


The slow start made it clear that beating out Green and Fleet for the traditional products of the colony’s presses—sermons, government proclamations and records, and a smattering of political and scientific tracts—was going to be tougher than James had anticipated. His biggest challenge, though, was Samuel Kneeland, who had not been relocated to some faraway place as James had counted on but, rather, had been set up directly across the alley from the Franklin printing house. It was hard not to see Kneeland’s extreme proximity as a message, if not an act of intimidation. The Greens had ruled New England printing since 1649, when Kneeland’s great-grandfather Samuel Green Sr. had taken over for the colony’s first printer, Stephen Daye. Boston’s printing was their birthright, and they would fight the interloper James Franklin for every unclaimed scrap of it.


Faced with the near certainty that he would get too little of the colony’s traditional business to survive, James looked for other ways to occupy his press. One presented itself on a blustery Monday morning early in November 1718, when the keeper of the Boston lighthouse drowned along with his wife, their daughter, and three other persons: a servant, a slave, and a family friend. What stunned and surprised people wasn’t that the lighthouse keeper and members of his family had been lost to the sea—many people had expected it, given the danger that came with living perched atop a small rocky island only eighteen feet above sea level near the mouth of the harbor, completely exposed to the vicissitudes of the weather and the waves—but that it had happened in conditions far less threatening than the storm that, a year or two earlier, had swept fifty-nine of the family’s sheep into the sea. The smallish boat transporting the party from a larger vessel to Little Brewster Island had mysteriously capsized just yards from the island’s rocky shore. Along with that irony there was poignancy: The family had been returning to their island home after attending religious services on the mainland. The fact that the body of the servant had not been recovered amplified the horror. Most garishly of all, the entire tragedy had unfolded in full view of another family daughter, who had stayed behind at the lighthouse and had come down to the water with a friend to greet her parents and sister.


While apprenticing in England, James Franklin had become familiar with Grub Street ballads, temporary poems that, like their sixteenth- and seventeenth-century predecessors, were frequently “comical, political, romantic or simply lewd,” and that “placed an emphasis on current events,” including “recent disasters.”4 “Ripped from the headlines” is how we would describe them today. The bizarre tragedy that had befallen the lighthouse keeper, James knew, was perfect for such a ballad, which might turn a good profit if some “hack” poet capable of writing serviceable verse for little or no money could be found.


As it happened, he had just such a poet in his employment. Benjamin Franklin had been dabbling with verse since 1715, when his father’s brother, a self-proclaimed poet also named Benjamin, had arrived from England and moved in with the family. After a straightforward account of the drownings appeared in the Boston News-Letter, James put his indentured bard to work.5 Satisfied with the result, he printed it, loaded Benjamin down with copies, and shoved him out the door to peddle them on the street, probably by declaiming his own verses for dramatic effect.


As Franklin remembered in his Autobiography, the ballad “sold wonderfully, the Event being recent, having made a great noise.” No verified copy survives; but for all its presumed flaws—Franklin later declared it “wretched stuff”—it was competent enough that people accepted the verse of a twelve-year-old as the handiwork of an adult.6


Three months later, when news reached Boston that the infamous pirate Blackbeard (a.k.a. Edward Teach) had been captured and killed along the coast of North Carolina, the brothers published another ballad. It appeared in March 1719 and recounted the drama in detail. Trapped in a cove by naval forces, a drunken Teach had stood at the bow of his ship and spewed curses at his adversaries for hours before unleashing a furious barrage of cannon fire. When the firing had ceased, the pirate, more audacious and heavily armed than his would-be captors, seemed to have prevailed. But when he boarded one of the ships that he assumed had been vanquished, he was ambushed by crew members lying in wait belowdecks. In the ensuing close-range combat, a lieutenant named Maynard shot and wounded Teach. Then another man finished him off, decapitating him so that his head lay “flat on his Shoulder.”7 The victorious sloop had sailed back to Virginia with Blackbeard’s head, distinctive for his long, dark beard fastened in clumps with red ribbons, mounted to its bowsprit. “Teach, the Pirate,” as the ballad was called, was a more modest success than “The Lighthouse Tragedy.” It was profitable enough, though, that James realized he had hit upon a source of revenue to replace the printing of linens, calicoes, and other fabrics for the housewives of Boston—until now his stopgap for making ends meet. Boston was unlikely to go more than a few months without some new drama or tragedy suitable for exploiting—a fire, a murder, a suicide, the loss of one of the colony’s ships in a storm or a run-in with Indians or more pirates. When it struck, James could put his brother to work sensationalizing it for profit.
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